

EVERYBODY GET ON BOARD!

A case study of two perspectives on onboarding process

Baojuan Huang

Kristi Tootmaa

Essay/Thesis: 30 hp

Program and/or course: Strategic Human Resource Management and Labour Relations

Level: Second Cycle

Semester/year: St 2017

Supervisor: Ulla Eriksson-Zetterquist

Examiner: xx

Report no: xx (not to be filled in by the student/students)

Abstract

Essay/Thesis: 30 hp

Program and/or course Strategic Human Resource Management and Labour Relations

Level: Second Cycle

Semester/year: St 2017

Supervisor: Ulla Eriksson-Zetterquist

Examiner: xx

Report No: xx (not to be filled in by the student/students)

Keyword: New employees onboarding socialization

Purpose: The purpose of this thesis is to study the two perspectives on onboarding. On one side

the perspectives of managers/HR professionals who conduct onboarding, and on the

other the perspectives of new employees. The study aims to discover what aspects of

onboarding play a critical role.

Theory: Onboarding, or organizational socialization, is a branch of socialization theory that

seeks to explain the ways in which new employees acquire the skills, knowledge and

dispositions required to become effective members of a workplace environment.

Therefore, the authors primarily use organizational socialization theory.

Method: This thesis depended greatly upon primary data. 25 semi-structured interviews were

conducted, including new employees, HR professionals, and managers of an

automotive engineering company in Sweden. Hence, the thesis is considered as a

qualitative research.

Result: Despite that the company has an onboarding plan, it is not thoroughly carried out by

managers and HR professionals. The lack of cooperation, motivation and resources to

fully implement the onboarding plan, caused frustration between HR professionals and

managers. Therefore, a number of new employees experienced the onboarding as

insufficient. Yet, new employees valued interpersonal connections, such as having a

mentor for guidance and supportive colleagues.

Foreword

This thesis is the final outcome of our master program called Strategic Human Resource Management and Labour Relations. We are pleased that we were able to put our theoretical knowledge into use by conducting this research. Yet, this study would have not taken place without the case company and its employees, who agreed to participate in our research. Therefore, we would like to express our gratitude towards the individuals for sharing their opinions and experiences.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1.	Intro	duction	1
	1.1.	Background	1
	1.2.	Case company	2
	1.3.	Problem formulation	2
	1.4.	Purpose	3
	1.5.	Research questions	3
	1.6.	Disposition	4
2.	Literatu	re review	5
	2.1. Tur	nover and engineers	5
	2.2.	Onboarding process	6
	2.3.	Principles for effective onboarding	7
	2.4.	Bauer's Four Cs	8
	2.5.	Onboarding socialisation tactics	9
	2.5.	1. Met expectations	9
	2.5.	2. Job satisfaction	. 10
	2.5.	3. Organizational commitment	. 10
	2.6.	Roles and responsibilities	. 11
3.	Theo	ry	. 14
	3.1.	Organizational socialization	. 14
	3.2.	"Best practice" and "best fit"	. 15
4.	Method		. 16
	4.1.	Case study	. 16
	4.2.	Qualitative data	. 16
	4.2.	1. Interview	. 17
	4.2.	2. Secondary data	. 18
	4.3.	Data analysis	. 19
	4.4.	Ethical considerations	. 19
	4.5.	Credibility	. 19
5.	Resu	ılt	. 21
	5.1.	Job advertising	. 21
	5.2.	Role clarity	. 22
	5.3.	Pre-entry expectations	. 23

	5.4.	Early i	interactions (welcoming lunch)	25
	5.5.	Work	essential	25
	5.6.	Suppo	ort	26
	5.6.	1. [Mentoring	26
	5.6.	2. (Colleagues	28
	5.6.	3. [Manager's support	29
	5.7.	Inform	nation seeking and sharing	30
	5.7.	1. I	Personnel handbook	30
	5.7.	2. (Orientation course	31
	5.7.	3. \	Web based SharePoint	32
	5.7.	4. I	Feedback on onboarding	33
	5.8.	Onbo	arding plan	35
	5.8.	1. (Onboarding checklist	35
	5.9.	Satisfa	action	37
	5.10.	Turno	ver intention	39
6.	Disc	ussion .		41
	6.1.	Uncle	ar job description and frustration	41
	6.2.	Non-e	existent pre-entry expectations	41
	6.3.	Well-s	structured and clear information	42
	6.4.	Manag	ger's support and interactions	44
	6.5.	Work	essentials	44
	6.6.	Collea	agues are influential	45
	6.7.	Mento	ors provide "safe havens"	45
	6.8.	Turno	ver intention	46
	6.9.	Stand	ardized onboarding vs. local context	47
	6.10.	HR pr	ofessionals as role models	48
	6.11.	Possik	ble solutions	48
7.	Cond	clusion		50
	7.1.	Limita	tions and recommendations for future studies	50
8.				
9.	Appe	endices	5	58
	9.1.	Apper	ndix 1 - Interview questions (new employees)	58
	9.2.	Apper	ndix 2 - Interview questions (HR and managers)	59

1. Introduction

This chapter of the paper provides the reader with a short introduction into onboarding, followed by a short description of the case company, the purpose, and then presenting the research questions. This chapter ends with a disposition of the paper.

1.1. Background

When new individuals join and enter a company, they often find themselves in a state of unfamiliarity and uncertainty. The uncertainty may stem from their new role and how well they will carry out their job in a new position. These individuals need to absorb knowledge in terms of the technical requirements of the job to become experts and effective in their work performance. In addition, it is not less significant to learn acceptable social behaviours and attitudes that are required in an effort to become a member of a company (Katz, 1980, as cited in Saks & Gruman, 2011). Therefore, an effective new employee organizational socialization, namely, onboarding process should be in place. Onboarding process is considered as one of the most significant tasks of hiring managers or human resources (HR) professionals. The purpose of onboarding is to transform new hires from being outsiders to organizational insiders (Bauer & Erdogan, 2012, p. 97).

Not only is onboarding useful for socializing new employees, but it also plays a role in achieving the long-term success of a team or company. Newcomer's productivity, and his/her acceleration of delivering results, as well as talent retention are greatly dependent on onboarding. Effective new employee onboarding leads to increased job satisfaction, organizational commitment, lower turnover, higher performance levels, career effectiveness and lowered stress. Thus, an increasing number of organizations have implemented some sort of onboarding process (Aberdeen Group, 2006). Similarly, relationships play a central role in the socialization process, particularly for new employees in order to integrate into a new organization. The newcomers are not becoming insiders of organizations by their own, but together with the help of co-workers and managers. Social capital which is obtained from relationships is essential in socialization process (Korte & Lin, 2013).

As discussed above, onboarding has many positive outcomes. However, despite that HR professionals invest many hours in recruiting, hiring and enabling, yet, unexpectedly a

considerable number of newcomers still can leave the company within a period of months. Subsequently, leaving the HR professionals to question what went wrong (Krasman, 2015). Unfortunately, many companies are unsuccessful to manage onboarding effectively, therefore the new employees fail to become fully integrated members of an organization. It could be due to employers not viewing onboarding as a strategic aspect of their employee retention (Krasman, 2015; Erdogan, 2010). One of the main possible causes of withdrawal among organizational newcomers is poor socialization (Feldman, 1988; Fisher, 1986, as cited in Allen, 2006). Consequently, organizational turnover is often highest amongst new employees (Farber, 1994).

1.2. Case company

The investigated case study organization is located in Sweden. The company is well-known in the automotive industry, and during the last couple of years has experienced a rapid growth. The headcount of the company is roughly 300, where the majority of them are engineers. In the last year alone the company recruited over 35 new employees and are planning to hire 50 more in 2017.

The HR manager has received some complaints from both new employees and managers when it comes to their current onboarding process. Hence, the HR manager of this engineering company is not fully aware with regards to how onboarding process is carried out and how it is experienced. The study is crucial since the company has previously experienced high turnover rate. Meanwhile, it is significant to illuminate the fact that the competition for engineers with the right competence in Sweden is fierce. Therefore, keeping new employees satisfied from the beginning and consequently maintaining them is imperative.

1.3. Problem formulation

One may ask: do the first days and months of a new job really matter? Bauer et al. (1998, p. 150-151) have underlined some main reasons why early socialization plays a vital role for both the newcomer's individual, as well as organizational, success.

Firstly, poor socialization can lead to employee turnover which thereafter results in financial losses for the company. An increasing number of organizations devote substantial amounts of time and expenses towards recruiting and training new employees. However, if a newcomer

leaves soon after early training, the company not only experiences little return on its investment but the company needs to initiate the recruitment and selection process all over again, which is costly. A greater understanding of socialization may avoid this situation and facilitate organizations to maintain employees, and consequently positively affect cost savings (Bauer et al., 1998, p. 150). The second reason is connected to the first one, namely, socialization is strongly associated to behaviours and attitudes of employees which may have a long-lasting impact. These attitudes may have an influence to determine whether the employee decides to quit or stay in the organization. Thus, an effective socialization process can show in productive and committed employees (Bauer, et al., 1998, p. 150). Thirdly, one cannot undermine socialization as the primary channel in which organizational culture is transferred and maintained. New employees comprehend and adopt the organization's fundamental values and norms through an effective socialization. Therefore, this process is significant to organizations since it ensures the steadiness of these norms and values. (Bauer, et al., 1998, p. 151). Therefore, to gain a better knowledge of what factors have a greater impact on new employee socialization and how managers work around socialization is of utmost importance, in order to ensure success in new employees and in the company's long-term goals.

1.4. Purpose

The purpose of the current study is to explore and understand how new employees experience their onboarding process. In an effort to gain a holistic understanding of the process, the perspectives of individuals who carry out onboarding process is a necessity for this paper. Therefore, managers and HR professionals are also included in this study. Hence, the paper opens up two frontiers with regards to the socialization process of onboarding – on one side the managers and HR professionals, who conduct the onboarding and on the other side the new hires who are to be transformed to organizational insiders.

1.5. Research questions

The research questions of this paper are accordingly:

- How do managers and HR professionals carry out onboarding process?
- How do new employees experience different aspects of onboarding process?

1.6. Disposition

This paper is structured in the following way. As seen above, the authors first present a description of background by providing general understanding of onboarding, problem formulation and a short overview of the case company, and purpose with research questions. The second chapter is focused on literature review, containing previous research and theories within onboarding notion, which provides a better grasp of the matters that are dealt with within the research. Thereafter, the theoretical framework is presented and the theories that are chosen for this specific study are reasoned. Chapter four lays out the methods that are used for data collection, and discusses other relevant factors when conducting a research.

Furthermore, the empirical findings of the research are collected, categorized and presented within the main themes in which perspectives of new employees, managers and HR professionals are listed. The findings are then analysed accordingly. Lastly, the paper ends up with a conclusion of the research, limitations and additional recommendations for future studies.

2. Literature review

The following chapter of the paper includes relevant literature and previous research, while offering a greater insight to the topic.

2.1. Turnover and engineers

Employee turnover is commonly used to refer to the loss of an employee and consequently as a negative index of organizational effectiveness. It is a concept that is often described by scholars as a result of dissatisfaction of the employee, with possible affecting factors of the work environment, while taking into account their job, co-workers or organization. Distinguishing the antecedent settings that lead to turnover is of high importance in order to comprehend and control it (Bigliardi, et al., 2005).

When discussing turnover in engineering, it is important to keep in mind that there are some unique elements that are specific for individuals in the engineering profession. As a matter of fact, engineers form a distinct occupational grouping since engineering does not fit the classic definition of a profession, namely there exist numerous elements of professionalism within the field. Engineers are characterized as individuals who have a strong desire for growth as well as personal development in comparison to professionals of other occupations. Because there are continuous changes in economic, social and technological condition, many managers are facing a major question. Specifically, how to retain engineering employees? (ibid).

The relationship between organizational and professional commitment for engineers may be integral aspect instead of conflicting or mutually exclusive as stated by Kerr et al. (1977). Engineers high on both factors are expected to stay in their profession, and are consequently more capable of work contributions. This implies that it is especially wise for companies to encourage their engineers to be organizationally committed, as well as professionally. Therefore, companies ought to have a process in place for encouraging and planning engineer's professional development. Thus, remove all obstacles for their sound integration within the company. Hence, the concept of organizational socialization might be a vital antecedent of turnover intention among engineers (Bigliardi, et al., 2005).

2.2. Onboarding process

The primary difference between socialization and onboarding is that onboarding is defined as a narrower term. Onboarding involves certain practices introduced by an organization or its agents to ease newcomer's adjustment to new roles (Wanberg, 2012). The onboarding process begins when the hiring decision is made and the candidate signs the contract, which then takes the new employee through the transition process. This process is long and can last several months or even up to one year (Gilmore & Turner, 2010; Chaneski, 2015), and includes both formal and informal steps that take place before, during and after the entry of the newcomer (Flanagin & Waldeck, 2004).

The onboarding process is described as a complex strategy which includes employee preparation, orientation, engagement, and follow-up (e.g. evaluation), that includes open communication regarding expectations in order to be effective (Mellinger, 2013), that aids new employees to become integrated members of their new organization. During onboarding newcomers obtain new knowledge, skills, as well as behaviour they need in order to succeed and be productive in their employment (Krasman, 2015). Organizational learning is absolutely necessary in terms of improving performance. Learning is a process, that is in most cases relational in the sense of depending on interactions between people to determine what needs improving and how to do it (Carmeli, et al., 2009). Bauer & Erdogan (2012, as cited in Wanberg, 2012) argue that although organizational socialization tactics have been one of the most deeply studied constructs in the organizational socialization literature, however, what is truly done with regards to onboarding strategy and implementation has been one of the least studied parts of socialization.

Furthermore, there is a strong connection between early experience and organizational socialization outcome (Filstad, 2004). It is significant to note that different onboarding can lead to different end result when it comes to satisfaction, commitment, turnover and performance (Bauer and Erdogan, 2010). Therefore, all organizations should strive for an effective onboarding. All in all, a successful onboarding sets a foundation for happy and engaged employees (Krasman, 2015), which greatly enhances talent retention (Vonnegut & Bradt, 2009, p. 6, Klein & Polin, 2012, p. 275). However, Klein & Polin (2012) state in their study that the academic literature has not thoroughly studied the effectiveness of different onboarding practices, as well as the extent to which organizations carefully evaluate those practices is still

ambiguous. They mean that there exists a significant lack of information about the actual onboarding activities that are being exercised in today's organizations and the extent to which those activities are meeting their anticipated goal of facilitating the organizational socialization of new employees.

2.3. Principles for effective onboarding

Having an effective onboarding process is a necessity, and should be considered as a methodical and long-term strategy (Ferrazzi & Davis, 2015). Yet, many managers struggle to know how an onboarding process should be carried out (Krasman, 2015). Bauer (2010) explains that best practices for onboarding consist of applying the basic paperwork prior to the first day, making the first day on the job feel special to the new employee, organising formal orientation programs, developing a written plan for onboarding, making sure onboarding is participatory, managing the program consistently, monitoring onboarding process over time, utilizing technology to support facilitate the process, involving stakeholders, and having well-defined objectives, timelines, roles, and responsibilities (Bauer, 2010, as cited in Bauer & Erdogan, 2012, p. 99).

Krasman (2015) concluded that an effective onboarding needs to include these following four aspects:

Strategic. Onboarding should not be another extra step in the HR professional daily work, but it should be a strategic resource for the organization. When it is reinforced by sufficient planning and is integrated into the organization's larger business strategy, the onboarding process has the potential to function as support for organizational growth.

Comprehensive. Onboarding needs to be complete and carried out continuously throughout the first stages of newcomer's new employment. The more the managers invest in onboarding, the larger its return for the company.

Consistent. Onboarding must be consistently used to socialize every single new hire. Similarly, the level of attention needs to be maintained throughout the process, thus making certain that onboarding produces the greatest benefits to the company and its employees.

Measured. Onboarding needs to be monitored, evaluated, and measured frequently, with an aim towards constant improvement. By asking feedback from newcomers and establishing quantitative measurement, managers can evaluate the impact of the onboarding process and enhance its success over time.

2.4. Bauer's Four Cs

Bauer (2010, 2015) has identified the Four Cs as the core aspects of onboarding, which specifically are: compliance, clarification, culture and connection.

Compliance signifies the basics of the job, e.g. tax forms, employment paperwork, badges, email accounts, computers, and workstations that are necessary for a particular job. It also refers to teaching rules and regulations related to different policies. Organizations that have established effective compliance practices have been able to advance the routine aspects of new employee onboarding in terms of facilitating the whole process.

Clarification refers to the details and context of an individual's job, together with an understanding of the related expectations, work requirements, the norms for completing tasks, and how different things are defined internally and externally. The newcomers become increasingly productive, the sooner they gain a better understanding of their new job.

Culture refers to familiarizing with the new organizational formal and informal culture, which is unique to every single organization. Much as people have their own distinctive personalities, patterns, and expectations, so do organizations. New employees need to quickly learn and understand the overall culture of as well as the subcultures, in an effort to enhance their chances for a long-term success.

Connection is important for developing interpersonal relationships, support mechanisms, and information networks that newcomers need to create upon entering a new organization.

All four Cs are crucial, except some are more likely to create positive results. Organizations that successfully coordinate these four aspects of onboarding receive positive new employee outcomes, for instance, consistently increasing job satisfaction, increased productivity, and lower turnover compared to organizations that are unable to deliver across these four onboarding aspects (Bauer, 2015).

Essentially, the onboarding process calls for to be documented and repeatable. Creating unnecessary new onboarding practices every time a new employee joins the company merely puts the HR and business goals at stake, which could otherwise be potentially achieved with a well-developed onboarding process (Bauer, 2015).

2.5. Onboarding socialisation tactics

Allen (2006) discussed in his study that socialization tactics are for companies or organizations to facilitate new employee adjusting to the early entry experience and to reduce uncertainty and anxiety, and obtain knowledge and unwritten rules. Socialization scholars have proposed that socialization tactics can possibly have impact on turnover through three primary mechanisms: by influencing vital turnover antecedents such as met expectations, job satisfaction, and organizational commitment (ibid.).

2.5.1. Met expectations

Gilmore & Turner (2010) state in their paper that one of the tasks of good human resource responsibilities is to carefully select new employees for their organization. Providing a clear job description that describe the duties, working conditions, and responsibilities. Clarity in job description defines what the company expects and what type of individual characteristics are needed to be effective.

Buckley, et al. (1998) state in their study that during a recruitment process the new employee creates pre-entry expectations that are found to be positively associated to employee's job satisfaction. In order to get as many qualified employees as possible, organizations usually put a lot of effort into attracting job candidates with a number of positive benefits and ignore the negative characteristics of the job. Therefore, it may cause the improper expectation for new employees (Buckley, et al. 1998). Louis (1980) states in her study that unrealistic and unmet expectation can lead to turnover. While unmet expectation may be an unavoidable process, it refers to the imbalance between new employee's expectations and the real job experience. Realistic job preview during the recruitment is one way to meet new employee's expectations in their job (Wanous, et al. 1992; Filstad, 2004). According to Miller & Jablin (1991), one of the main purposes of information-offering is to clarify newcomers' roles in the organizations, and decrease uncertainty, role ambiguity and role conflict. Buckley, et al. also (1998) state that the application of realistic job preview can offer an unprejudiced description of the new employment situation, thus lower the unrealistic job expectations and consequently increase job satisfaction.

2.5.2. Job satisfaction

A publication by Bauer & Erdogan (2012) discusses that feeling of acceptance by other employees, insiders (or the social dimension of social tactics) is greatly related to distal measures of socialization, in terms of job satisfaction. Louis, et al. (1983) found in their quantitative study that the helpfulness of different socialization practices as described by new employees seem to influence their feelings of subsequent job satisfaction. Namely, they found in their study that interactions with peers was available to more respondents than any other support, and was considerably correlated with job satisfaction, commitment as well as tenure intention.

Additionally, it is found that in order to increase job satisfaction, the managers need to provide a clear role description which is a significant predictor of distal socialization outcomes. Furthermore, research has revealed that new employees who comprehend organizational politics, understand the goals and values of a company and pick up the language exclusive to the organization, will have higher levels of satisfaction (Bauer & Erdogan, 2012).

2.5.3. Organizational commitment

Organizational commitment usually refers to members' psychological conditions to the organization. Meyer and Allen (1991, p. 62) argue that organizational commitment can be extendedly connected to the "desire, need, and/or obligation to maintain membership" in an organization, and three different components are included in it. These are: affective, continuance, and normative commitment. To be specific, affective commitment links to employee's emotional need to stay in the organization, continuance commitment refers to awareness of the cost if leaving the organization, and normative commitment means that employees' feeling of responsibility to stay in the organization. When any one of the three components increase, the possibility for turnover decreases. Therefore, it is advisable to improve new employees' organizational commitment in the early stage to increase the retention rate (ibid).

How to increase organizational commitment during onboarding? Ostroff & Kozlowski (1992) found that new employees who can enhance the amount of information obtained from managers or increase their learning about their task, will be more committed and adjusted. Also, relationships play a central role during onboarding. In Morrison's (2002) study it is suggested

that newcomer's social assimilation will be supported by solid, dense friendship connections. Namely, by passing on support, identity, and acceptance, friendship networks consisting of strong and interconnected bonds will ease the development of social integration and organizational commitment.

2.6. Roles and responsibilities

A collaboration, cooperation and coordination between the recruiting lead, the human resource generalist, and the hiring manager is a must in order to avoid early failures that often are not apparent early on (Bradt & Vonnegut, 2009, p. 5-6). This suggests that all parties involved in onboarding bear responsibilities. It is essential that business leaders understand the importance of effective integration of new employees. It is a major factor to ensure success of their business (Bauer, 2010). Although several stakeholders are engaged in the onboarding process, the main participants are the new employee, the hiring manager and the HR department (Snell, 2006).

Comprehending who is responsible for the onboarding process and who controls different steps in the process is imperative to onboarding's success and sustainability. One of the first things that HR managers should consider is whether their company is facilitated the greatest by informal or formal onboarding. Informal onboarding indicates the process by which a newcomer acquires knowledge about his or her new job without an explicit plan. In contrary, formal onboarding refers to written fixed and organized guidelines and procedures that help an employee in adjusting to his/her new job with regards to both responsibilities and socialization. Bauer (2010) states that the companies that follow a step-by-step guideline, a plan, are more successful in terms of conveying information of roles, norms and values amongst others. While some onboarding programs may include traditional orientation matters such as payroll signup and parking details, it ought to focus greatly on sharing information with regards to organizational structure, culture, and how things get done (Ross, et al. 2014).

Often the hiring manager is to manage every new employee's onboarding process all the way. Previous research in leader-member relationships has shown that high-quality relationships between the leader and employees help to develop the psychological safety of employees with regards to emotional closeness, which then empowers employees to engage in the process of learning (Carmeli & Gittell, 2009). Therefore, managers should provide individuals with support according to the onboarding plan and place importance on it. The hiring manager should

take primary responsibility for the onboarding plan's implementation and coordination across people and functions during the recruitment (Bradt & Vonnegut, 2009, p. 7). Merely developing a formal plan will not benefit new employees nor the business (Bauer, 2010) if it is not followed through. HR manager is expected to help hiring manager throughout the process (Bradt & Vonnegut, 2009, p. 7).

Managers assign a mentor/buddy for the new employee for everyday questions and help to ease new employee's navigation in the environment. Also, mentoring facilitates interactions amongst newcomers and others in work groups. (Snell, 2006; Carter, 2015). Ostroff and Kozlowski (1993) found in their study that mentors are most influential for facilitating new hires learning about organizational domain relative to other content domains.

On the first day, the manager should take the new employee on tour and introduce them to the team. A personal introduction goes a long way in terms of gaining understanding of how different departments interact with one another. In addition, the hiring manager needs to communicate expectations clearly and check-in frequently with the new employee. It is essential to keep track on the new employee's progress. Therefore, it is recommended to schedule progress meetings on the new employee's start date for the near future to discuss their progress, areas for opportunity as well as provide support (Carter, 2015). Ellis, et al. (2017) state in their study that there exist studies that have mainly focused on the new employees' experience, while putting aside the perspectives of managers during socialization which is a quite unexplored topic. They suggest that more studies should be conducted on the managers' perspective.

It is also important to highlight that it has been found that the inclusion of manager's behaviour is a crucial aspect for newcomer's socialization process. Managers' behaviours verified specificity in their relationships to accommodation. It is highly likely that early in the relationship, manager behaviours have their strongest effect on newcomer learning and adjustment, and consequently having an indirect effect on performance (Bauer & Green, 1998). In short, hiring managers are the ones that matter the most for new employees (Bauer, 2013).

An important factor of new employee organizational socialization success or failure is tightly connected to organizational insiders, such as co-workers, because socialization does not take place by itself. Research on relationships with co-workers, leaders, and mentor has revealed

that they are imperative when it comes to adjustment and socialization outcomes (Ellis, et al., 2014, p. 308). It was also confirmed in the study by Korte, et al. (2015), where they found that new hires tend to look to their colleagues for guidance but also learning how to do the work that was expected of them.

The objective of onboarding is to engage important parties and newcomers in interactions that assist them to understand each other and how they interact over time. Worked in combination with human resource management's best practices, effective onboarding will lead to faster learning, enhanced communication, and a more productive and engaged employees (Bauer, 2010).

3. Theory

In this chapter, the authors are presenting the theories that are used for data analysis in this research.

3.1. Organizational socialization

Onboarding, or organizational socialization, is a branch of socialization theory that seeks to explain the ways in which new employees acquire the skills, knowledge and dispositions required to become effective members of a workplace environment. It is described by scholars that organizational socialization is a joint process, including an organization that is aiming to influence and form its members, and employees who are trying to outline an adequate role for him or herself within the company (Bauer et al., 1998; Wanberg, 2012).

Most organizational socialization models outline three phases of socialization. Firstly, the anticipatory socialisation stage describes different expectations that a newcomer has with regards to the job/organization before starting work. The challenge in this stage is to develop expectations that are realistic for their future role (Solinger, et al., 2013). Secondly, the accommodation stage is the heart of socialization and includes learning, sense making, and adjustment. In other words, the new employee at this phase has arrived in the organization and he/she needs to speed up the adjustment to new role expectations and functional requirements. The primary challenge in this stage is to attain the right information on the group, job, role, and organization (Ostroff & Kowalski, 1992). During the third and final phase, the new employee is believed to acquire a set of desired behaviours, attitudes, and values expected of him/her in the new organization (Schein 2004, Weiss 1978, as cited in Solinger, et al. 2013).

As individuals either start new jobs or join new organizations across a lifelong career, the stages are re-experienced, with new lessons interpreted with the benefit of knowledge from previous socializations. In addition, employees are changing employments more often now, and join new organizations. Therefore, socialization makes a difference just as much to individuals as it does to firms. A successful organizational socialization process can lead to effective employees with positive work attitudes who remain with an organization for a longer period of time (Bauer & Erdogan, 2011, p. 51). Even though socialization takes place every time an employee either

changes roles or moves within an organization, the main focus is on socialization when an individual first joins the company (Bauer, et al., 1998).

3.2. "Best practice" and "best fit"

In addition, "best practice" and "best fit" theories can also be used in this paper as the theoretical fundament to discuss the case company's current onboarding plan. Boxall and Purcell (2011) distinguish the primary difference between these two strategies. Namely, "best practice" refers to universalism that ignores the context and assumes that there exists a best way to apply HR practices to the organizations. It describes that all organizations will see improvements in performance if they identify and implement "best practices" (Boxall & Purcell, 2011, 85). In contrary, "best fit" emphasizes that there is no universal fit, meaning that practices should adapt to the special context (Boxall & Purcell, 2011, 63). "Best fit" theory has many supporters and is described as an analytical model that benefits managers to recognise options and make choices in their own environments and take advantage of different circumstance (Boxall & Purcell, 2011, 71, 85). Abundance of descriptive studies on organization's activities, show that "best fit" tends to be more beneficial for them. For the reason that methods of labour management are unavoidably affected by the context, taking into account variety of economic and socio-political influences, "it shows that there are very good reasons for adaption" (Boxall & Purcell, 2011, 94).

The researchers of this study intend to analyse whether the case company's current onboarding processes benefit the most from "best practice" or "best fit".

4. Method

This section gives the reader an overview of different methods that are used in this study.

When designing a research, it is essential to make adequate choices with regards to the research methods that are used. The selection of a suitable research method is significant to the success of any research project, thus must be driven by the research question and the state of knowledge in the topic being studied (Moody, 2002).

4.1. Case study

In this research, the case study is utilized as a way of describing how new engineering employees experience the socialization process of onboarding and how managers and HR professionals carry out onboarding practices. The case study is a research strategy where the central point is on understanding the dynamics present within particular settings (Eisenhardt, 1989). It considers a current phenomenon (the "case") in its real-world context particularly when the restrictions between phenomenon and context may not be entirely clear. The case study is the preferred method in comparison to other methods, especially in situations where the research question is either "how" or "why" (Yin, 2014). Case studies are a useful way to study on organizations and institutions (Hakim, 2000, p. 68).

On the other hand, case studies have been criticized because the results cannot be generalized. Bryman (2008, p.76) points out that case studies can offer an ability to have aspects understood for other cases. In addition, case studies provide a number of advantages. For instance, the data examination is often carried out within the setting of its use, specifically, within the situation in which activity occurs. Also, detailed qualitative explanation are often produced in case studies, that help to describe the complexities of existing situations that may not be attained through experimental or survey research (Zainal, 2007).

4.2. Qualitative data

Often, researchers use either qualitative or quantitative research, or both. Since in this study the data collection is done via interviews to get the perspectives from both new employees and managers and HR, it means it is a qualitative study. Qualitative research is a research strategy that mainly focuses on words instead of quantification of data and analysis (Bryman, 2012, p.

380). It is proper to solve 'why' and 'how' research questions. Qualitative research allows the researcher to identify issues from participants' point of view, and understand their meanings and interpretations (Hennink, et al., 2011). It requires the researcher to perform in-depth investigation and obtain rich and detailed data on a small sized sample (Patton, 1991).

The authors have chosen a qualitative approach, for the reason that there exists a considerable amount of quantitative studies on onboarding. In addition, there exists a small number of literature that considers perspectives from both new employees, and managers/HR professionals when it comes to onboarding.

4.2.1. Interview

The study includes data from 25 different face-to-face semi-structured interviews. The questions were developed with literature review in mind (see Appendix 1). The interviews were conducted in person and included new employees, managers and HR professionals of an engineering company. There is a great diversity among respondents, in terms of gender, age, nationality and professional background. The sample includes both men and women, the proportion of male participants is 68%. The age of participants varies from 20's to 40's.

Every single interview was carried out in English, which for most of the participants was not their native language. The authors made use of convenience sampling, namely, the authors had access to a list of new employees that were hired in 2016. Furthermore, the researchers had an overview of managers and HR professionals through an organizational matrix, through which the researchers found contact with them.

All the new employees included in this study are by profession engineers and have been in their position for a minimum of three months and no longer than one year, in an effort to collect the most accurate observations and experiences from their onboarding process. The criteria for managers and HR professionals was that they are familiar with onboarding and regularly carry out onboarding process.

The interviewers contacted participants through e-mail where the purpose of the interview was explained. All interviews were conducted in the company in a separate meeting room, except one interview, which took place in a public café as a request from the interviewee. In addition,

the pool of participants has disregarded consultants, students and other temporary workers, and focused only on new employees with permanent full-time employment contract.

The duration of each interview was on average 50 minutes and all the interviews were recorded with permission of interviewees. It is also important to notify that the identity of the company and all the participants is anonymised.

Knowledge bearer	Kind of knowledge	Amount
bearer		
New employees	Have an employment of minimum three months and maximum twelve months	20
	Own experience of being recruited	
	Own experience of their onboarding process	
Managers	Experience in recruitment and operational work with new employees	3
	Experience in leadership	
	Experience in onboarding process	
HR professionals	Experience in recruitment, selection and retention.	2
	Experience in onboarding process	
Total		25

4.2.2. Secondary data

Hakim (2000, p. 24) explains that "secondary analysis is any re-analysis of data collected by another researcher or organization, including the analysis of datasets collected from a variety of sources to create time series or area-based datasets". Namely, besides the interview as the channel for primary data, this research also utilizes secondary data. Before the start of this study, the researchers gained access to case company's internal data. The data included the standardized onboarding checklist, different PowerPoint presentations, and the employee surveys from the previous years.

4.3. Data analysis

The authors first studied different concepts of onboarding and then analysed the company's current onboarding plan, which aided to develop the interview questions for both new employees and the individuals who carry out onboarding. All interviews with new employees, managers and HR professionals were recorded, transcribed word by word and thereafter coded depending on different themes, meaning that the authors utilize thematic analysis. Thematic analysis is a qualitative analytic method to identify, analyse and report patterns or themes within data. It helps to organise and depict the data set in detail and interpret various important factors of the research topic (Braun & Clarke, 2006). The results of respondents are then compared and analysed with help of the principles of organizational socialization theory and onboarding.

4.4. Ethical considerations

When considering qualitative study, the communication between researchers and participants can be ethically challenging for the latter, since they are personally involved in diverse stages of the study. The challenges may be faced when dealing with anonymity, confidentiality, informed consent, researchers' possible impact on the participants and so on. Hence, formulating explicit ethical guiding principles is crucial (Sanjari, et al., 2014).

The researchers of this paper carry out their case study in an engineering company, where they had signed a confidentiality agreement prior the research. Therefore, any information that does not concern the research topic or may be considered as sensitive is not made disclosed. The researchers contacted all the 25 participants through e-mail, where there they presented themselves, their research and how it is conducted. The contacted individuals were encouraged to ask additional questions in case something was unclear. It was also explained that all the interviews are recorded with the permission of the interviewee and they were allowed to withdraw at any point. Moreover, in the e-mail the researchers also stated the confidentiality and anonymity of the participants.

4.5. Credibility

The credibility criteria entail establishing that the outcome of qualitative research is credible or authentic from the perspective of the partaker in the research. Since from this viewpoint, the objective of qualitative research is to describe or understand the phenomena of interest from the interviewee's eyes. Therefore, participants are the only ones who can legitimately make judgement on the credibility of the results (Social Research Methods, 2006). In order to hold a high credibility of the study the authors maintain objectivity throughout all the interviews without influencing the opinion of the participant nor influencing the outcomes of the interviews. It is equally important that a researcher does not let him/herself be convinced to over-interpret findings in a certain direction. "Angled reports can cause a great deal of harm, irrespective of whether they have a commercial angle or are affected by the ambitions of a certain organization" (Gustafsson, et al., 2011, p. 39).

5. Result

In the following section the collected data, derived from all the interviews with the new employees, managers and HR professionals, is presented.

The authors could identify recurring responses from interviewees and categorized them as different themes. The findings are divided into sections - new employees, managers and HR professionals. This helps the reader to clearly distinguish different perspectives. If the opinions stated did not differ then the perceptions of new employees, managers and HR professionals were gathered in one section.

The authors present the findings in a logical order by starting how information of the vacant position is shared and obtained, and finishing with revealing whether the new employees of the company are intending to continue working in the company for a long term and what are the main driving factors for it.

5.1. Job advertising

Managers/HR professionals

Managers and HR professionals advertise vacant or available job positions both through internal and external channels. For instance, one way for managers to deliver information is during internal meetings or through so called snowball strategy by which they ask existing employees to recommend someone (e.g. organizational outsider), who would qualify for a certain position. This method is encouraged by the company, meaning that the employee who recommends someone to the right position is rewarded with a monetary bonus. Besides, HR professionals internally inform all employees by email about the vacant positions, as well as upload information about open positions on an online SharePoint, which is accessible for everyone inside the company. They also advertise the positions on the company's website and other external recruitment platforms (e.g. LinkedIn, student career fairs).

New employees

When considering how new employees of this engineering company received information about the position they have now, the answers were mixed, but can be categorized into three different groups. The most common way to get information about the available position is through online advertising, specifically through LinkedIn or the company's own website. Also, since many of the new employees have some previous experience with the company, such as having a temporary contract, being a thesis student or working in another department or subsidiary, they received information internally.

(new employee) "I did my master thesis for [company's name] as well. So, the manager basically said, "do you want to work here?" and I said "yes"."

Lastly, the third group consists of new employees who got into contact with the company representative through someone that is already an insider of this organization. The new employees mentioned a close relative, friend, or previous manager.

(new employee) "My uncle works here and he gave me a notification that [manager's name] is looking for people for his team, so I applied."

(new employee) "I was approached by people who I know here because I used to travel a lot here before."

5.2. Role clarity

New employees

During the hiring process, most of the new employees had job interviews, most commonly one to three. However, for some individuals there were no interviews at all since they were already well-known by their manager. During these job interviews the candidate received a short presentation of the company, and a general job description of the job. In fact, the majority of the new employees stated that the job description given to them during the job interviews was far too vague. Only 30% of the respondents said that the job description was clear or somewhat clear. Interestingly thought, the individuals who were attracted to the company by an organizational insider said more commonly that the job description was clear. Subsequently, the new employees who did not receive a clear job description wished that it had been clarified. They stated that the most important information for new employees is about their work and the responsibilities it entails. Some new employees mentioned that they did not receive a role description even after entering the company.

(new employee) "If you don't know what your responsibilities are then it's much easier to... then it's much harder to say, "that's not my job actually". Because you need to have some kind of limits of how much you should do, otherwise it's easy to just "okay, do that and do that", then you have 150% of the job because you didn't know if it was your or someone else's [job]"

(new employee) "So the role was rather vague. It wasn't that well defined and of course sometimes it has been frustrating to not know exactly what your role is."

Managers/HR professionals

Indeed, the hiring managers explained that they seldom give detailed job descriptions to candidates. The managers stated that often job description is hard to be given, since it highly depends on different teams and project requirements. The managers explained that the company grows quickly and gets more and more new projects. In order to draw in more applicants, the idea of broadly designed job ads is to attract more candidates. During the job interviews, the managers decide what position or project match the candidate's set of skills. (manager) "We need people, we need developers, so we have gone fairly broadly with our ads, we just said software developer, or system engineer or something, so we bring in the people and then we talk to them and look at their background"

Another manager explained that they believe broad job description is a selling point of the company. The manager reasoned that the new employees have more opportunities to do different tasks rather than focusing on one role.

(manager) "We tried to sell that this is the workplace where you can do a lot of things, and you can work with different things and have different roles"

5.3. Pre-entry expectations

Managers/HR professionals

The managers follow new employees through different steps during their recruitment and are available to any possible questions that new hires may have. The managers said to always be realistic about the expectations for new employees, meaning that they do not expect new employees to be effective until after a few months. They commonly contact the new employee after signing the contract and before his/her first day of the job, where they describe what the first day will look like etc. Also, often new employees are asked to write a short introduction of themselves that will be put on an online platform, called SharePoint, and is shared with all the organizational insiders.

(manager) "I mean I am with the candidate all the way from the interviews when we meet the first time and give a good view of [company's name], what we are doing and so on, and most

often I'm the one that calls them and gives them the deal and we assign them. They come here and give them the contract and info that they may require"

New employees

The majority of the respondents stated that they did not have pre-entry expectations. Regardless whether the new employee had some previous job experience or not, and whether they were attracted to the company through an insider or not. Having no pre-entry expectations was especially common among new employees who were are freshly out of university.

(new employee) "My expectations? I did not have any to be honest, because I did not have much experience"

(new employee) "I didn't have a lot of expectations, I guess. My experience is from doing summer work and master thesis to some degree as well. I got a pretty good idea what people are doing."

One of the new employees implied that unclear job description was the reason for not existing pre-entry expectation.

(new employee) "Expectations? Not really, I think. I had a rough idea what kind of position they would put me in, I would be a developer but basically, I had no idea. I didn't know what project or anything. So no, not really much expectations."

Although some experienced new employees stated they did not have much expectations, a few experienced ones said that there are always some kind of expectations.

(new employee) "You always have high expectations, I had that as well, especially since I had some other good [job] opportunities."

The few who had pre-entry expectations for the company and their employment said that the expectations were met to some extent after the entry. Some new employees reasoned that their unmet expectations were caused by the project they found themselves in, which was not what they had expected.

(new employee)" I was expecting to have much more interesting project to work with, it is interesting but not what I really thought it is"

In addition, there was some disappointment with regards to the organizational language, which was said to be English during the job interviews. However, since a large number of employees are Swedish, the main language used every day is Swedish. This fact caused unmet expectations after entering the company.

5.4. Early interactions (welcoming lunch)

New employee/managers/HR professionals

On their first day of the employment the new employees are greeted by their closest manager and HR professional. The new employee is often taken on a tour around the offices and introduced to his/her new colleagues, as well as the new employee receives a designated workplace. It is also a typical practice that the managers invite their new employees out for a company paid welcoming lunch. Welcoming lunches sometimes also include managers of very high-level position in the company. In general, welcoming lunch is something that is highly appreciated by the new employees and often mentioned as something positive from their onboarding period. It is also noteworthy that new employees see lunch as a good opportunity to get to know their colleagues and manager.

(new employee)" One thing that I really liked on the first day, I had my lunch with my immediate manager, and the chief technical officer, big guy here. I guess that is part of the Swedish system, horizontal hierarchy, that is a sort of horizontal structure here"

Others indicated that on the first day, the new employee may feel lost and awkward. However, having a lunch together with his/her new manager and colleagues, creates sense of being taken care of. In addition, the new employees discussed that having a lunch on the first day, is a good way to get to know other people in a more relaxed setting.

(new employee) "You're a little bit taken care of on your first day. You're not just wandering around, looking for a lunch place by yourself. I think that's a really good standard to have." (new employee) "I think they do it [i.e. welcome lunch] every time also and that's a nice gesture. A good way to get to know each other"

5.5. Work essential

New employees

Although nearly all the new employees receive their workplace, computer and batch card on the first day, some had to wait up to a couple of week weeks to get a company cell-phone and access to the e-mailing system. The interviewees explained that the IT department is often overwhelmed due to a small number of staff in their department, which can sometimes cause delay. Also, some new employees stated that the managers should be more prepared for new employee's arrival. In general, the answers were quite mixed - some had no problems to get the work essentials while others had to wait, which caused frustration. The new employees who had their workplace, laptop etc. ready, could engage in work faster.

(new employee) "When you have new employees you should have all the access ready and the computer ready, so you don't have to waste one week just to get everything ready. It's the same with every new employee that I have heard of - they are always waiting for stuff."

(new employee) "I had to move a desk. It wasn't in place, so I had to carry it by myself and it felt a little bit like "are you coming now?"."

Managers/HR professionals

Managers and HR professionals stated that work matters are usually ordered and prepared for new employees in advance, but it also has some exceptions. They stated that getting computer, cell phone, batch card etc. on time can sometimes be troublesome. As new employees discussed above, the managers and HR professionals also agreed that delays are due to low staff in certain departments, e.g. IT. This also explains why it takes time for some new employees to engage in their work.

(manager) "Usually we have their computer up and running before lunch [...] access card actually takes a little bit long time, I would prefer if they could have it done in one day, not like now like 3 days or something"

(manager)" I also contact IT to trigger their preparation of computer and stuff, but it is rarely ready that day."

5.6. Support 5.6.1. Mentoring

Managers/HR professionals

Managers' duty is to make sure that the new employees get a mentor/buddy, regardless whether the person is new or has had a temporary working contract in the company (e.g. students who work part-time or employees who worked as consultants). According to the company's onboarding plan, the managers have to select a mentor before the new employee arrives.

Mentors are usually chosen by managers while taking into account the project where the newcomer will be working in and considering mentor's familiarity of the job and the company. The idea is to have a mentor who can work closely with the new employee, preferably in the same project.

(manager) "Usually, or preferably, based on the project the employee will be working at, so I would say the best thing to do is to have someone [mentor] that also working in the same project and preferably in the same team"

The HR professionals and managers also believe that it is equally important that mentors are knowledgeable not only about technical aspects of the work but also administrative aspects in order to offer sufficient support to newly hired person.

New employees

New employees perceived that mentoring is an important learning method. Most, but not all, new employees had an assigned mentor/buddy as a person to turn to with any questions (for instance, technical, administrative and other everyday questions). All of the new employees who had a mentor experienced it as a positive aspect of onboarding. They claimed that having a mentor helped them to ease into their work tasks.

(new employee) "I got a mentor in the beginning and was able to work together with him, look into the issues together and got some experience from that. I think it was quite efficient for me [...] I think the mentorship is quite important because many people that start to work here come straight from the university, at least that's my experience that I have seen. And it's really important to get an introduction to the working life and to the company."

(new employee) "For me it was very positive that a mentor was assigned to me immediately, that was something that not always happens in other companies, so I really liked the idea to have a mentor for newly employed"

The new employees who did not have an assigned mentor during their onboarding, wished they had someone to turn to and help them to get familiar with their new work tasks and responsibilities.

(new employee) "I wish I had somebody next to me, working with me closer, helping me."

The new employees also discussed that a mentor should have enough time to spend with the new employee in order to accelerate delivering results and get maximum effect of mentoring.

Another new employee discussed the importance of timing, as well as the stage of the project when entering the company. He argued that it is not a good idea to recruit new people during a high level of workload, because the mentor's work can be disturbed and slowed down with coaching and helping duties. Therefore, some newcomers did not get enough help from a mentor and were even reluctant to ask for help from colleagues.

(new employee) "But I think it is kind of unrealistic as well [to have a mentor]. When the team was under pressure, and had a lot of things to do [...] I was slowing them down. So, it really depends on what time, or what the stages of the project you enter. So, something always fascinates me is that some project managers, they recruit new people when it is a lot of pressure, and they think it will help but it is actually the other way around I think [...]Because you need to devote another person to teach them what's happening, so you are losing resources instead of gaining, so it works in a long term but not for a short period of time. So, in this case I mean at that time when I was employed [...] they were all, for instance working overtime because it was a lot of things to do. So, I could understand that they are under pressure and I tried not to disturb them too much."

5.6.2. Colleagues

New employees/managers/HR professionals

Despite of work position, work experience, or overall attitude towards the company, all 25 interviewees highlighted their co-workers. The friendliness, helpfulness and competence of the employees, is something that is considered as a strength of the company. Many respondents mentioned colleagues when asked to describe something positive from their onboarding process.

(new employee) "Everyone was very friendly. Hmm... I don't remember exactly the first day, I remember the people were friendly at least, and were very helpful"

(new employee) "That's the best part here. Everybody is quite helpful, no matter who is the colleague"

(new employee) "I think that's one of the things that make the company a good place to be and there's many people that know stuff and you can always ask and so on. Without those persons, I think it would be a company with all the other companies that aren't that good. It's the people not just the company."

The new employees explained that having helpful and friendly co-workers eased their socialization process. It was also stated by some newcomers that the more they learnt who's

who on different positions the more they felt sense of being part of the company. Furthermore, a couple of new employees suggested that the company or project managers would arrange more activities for the employees, in order to advance the team spirit.

(new employee) "I think they need to improve regarding the... how to take care of the personnel, like we need to bond in the groups much better. We don't have that much exchange between the departments and so on."

Furthermore, the HR professionals' and managers' opinion with regards to colleagues did not differ from the new employees when it comes to how colleagues are perceived. They felt that they have a lot of great individuals working there and new employees are always supported by their colleagues.

5.6.3. Manager's support

New employees

Most of the new employees were pleased with their direct manager, they stated they have an open communication and can always turn to their manager whenever issues, questions etc. occur. On the other hand, a couple of interviewees mentioned that sometimes it is difficult to get in touch with their managers, e.g. due to their busy schedules.

In general, the interview participants seem to have good understanding of manager's responsibilities as well as boundaries. For instance, new employees understand that the project managers are unable hire more people into a project in order to lower the workload, without a permission from the headquarters. A few respondents stated that the managers do not realise how stressed their employees are at times. The new employees also discussed that the managers listen and take into consideration their opinions. One new employee explained that although he was initially put in one project, he was later moved to another, after he had talked to his manager about his real interests in his career.

Managers

Managers said that they try to make certain that the new employees feel welcome and comfortable during their onboarding process, as they consider to be the most important factor of onboarding.

(manager) "The most important thing is to...is that new employees feel welcome to the company, that is the key, and [...] you show that "you are important"."

It was also discussed that inexperienced new employees receive more attention as they may need more guidance than individuals who have previous working experience.

(manager) "Experienced people obviously get accustomed much easier, they have been working for some time, they are aware of how routines and everything work, they don't need that much follow up"

When asked if managers checked the workload for new employees, the managers gave positive answers and two managers stated that new employees can absolutely get help from them when needed. The managers do not put much pressure and expect the new employees to be as productive as their co-workers. They believe it is essential for new employees to focus on learning during the first few months. Another manager said if they found some new employee with high level of stress, they would take actions in an effort to decrease stress.

5.7. Information seeking and sharing

5.7.1. Personnel handbook

New employees

Either after signing the contract or on the first day in the company the new employee receives a personnel handbook which contains different workplace policies, rules, procedures etc. At the moment, the personnel handbook is available only in Swedish, the new employees who do not have sufficient Swedish skills rely on a quick overview in English with help of their manager, colleagues or translate it themselves online. Interestingly though, the majority of the new employees either had not read the personnel handbook or looked at it briefly. Most of the non-Swedish speaking new employees, did not perceive documents in Swedish as a problem. On the other hand, a couple of non-Swedish speaking individuals said they were disappointed to receive the personnel handbook in Swedish.

(new employee) "I got a paper of 17 pages or something like that in Swedish, about some rules and so on, which I never read."

HR professionals

The HR professionals are familiar with the fact that the personnel handbook is only in Swedish. They understand the need of translating the personnel handbook and have it in both versions, i.e. English and Swedish, in order to make it understandable for everyone.

(HR professional) "The personnel handbook? That's in Swedish, only. [...] We have that non-disclosure agreement and that's in English. That's in English for everyone. And we also have the one for bank details in English as well. But the rest is in Swedish."

However, the HR professionals mean that since the personnel handbook and some other documents contain specific Swedish terminology, it is significant to translate it in a correct manner. Indicating that it is a difficult task for a HR professional, who is not trained to translate specific terminology from Swedish to English. Until the English version will be available, the HR professionals stated that managers should take the responsibility to translate and explain it to non-Swedish speaking new employees.

(HR professional) "But it is up to the management to explain [...] we don't meet all [employees]"

It is also noteworthy to mention that the top management of the company has arranged Swedish courses for non-Swedish speaking employees. The HR professionals explained that it not only helps them to socialize in the company but in the Swedish culture in general.

Managers

On the other hand, the managers appear to be more critical when it comes to documents that are available only in Swedish. Thus, managers often devote more time to non-Swedish speaking new employees to translate them the important formalities, while others said that most of the new employees have some Swedish skills, indicating that they do not need an entire translation of the personnel handbook or can rely on online translation.

(manager) "I think it is quite embarrassing, "sorry this is only in Swedish", then I try to translate it, but as I said, it is many special terms, it is hard."

(manager) "I usually go through the personnel handbook the first day with the new employee and if they only speak English. I try to point and explain, because most of them know a bit of Swedish at least and they can use Google translate."

5.7.2. Orientation course

Managers/HR professionals

Twice a year the top management arranges a short one or two-day orientation course. This course is available for new employees that have been hired the past 6 months. The purpose of the orientation course is to give new employees a better idea of various operations of the company. During the course, several presentations by managers of different departments take

place. Although some managers and HR professionals believed that twice a year to be way too seldom to hold an orientation course. Both HR professionals and managers state that that new employees should be able to participate the orientation course as early as possible. However, it requires to have an appropriate number of newly hired employees to join the course - not too few and not too many. This means that some new employees have to wait up to 6 months to participate in the orientation course.

(HR professional) "I think it [orientation course] is quite good, but I think it is important you get it quite early but I think if you have this course you should have at least 10 persons or something, between 8 or 10. Now we have 30, maybe it is a bit too much."

New employees

The orientation course is positively received and highly valued by the new employees who have participated. Although some people indicated that two days is too long for such course and some information is too detailed. A few said that although they had been working in the company for a few months, they still have not been invited to an orientation course. Overall, the new employees thought it was a good opportunity to meet and socialize with other new employees and get a better overview of the company and understanding of different departments' activities.

(new employee) "I think that you get a lot of insights to how things actually work because sometimes you don't really understand the whole picture, I guess. Because even though we might think that the stuff you're working on is really broad and you have a lot of stuff that you need to keep track on and make sure that everything is moving forward. There's such a huge project, you know, that is going on, basically over your head that you don't really see, or it just happens in some way. A lot of things that I never thought about, they explained there. It really put into context like what different people are doing "

5.7.3. Web based SharePoint

HR professionals

In order to enhance sharing information and offer convenience, the company has a web-based SharePoint. This is a platform where employees can search and ideally find information they need. The HR professionals believed that it was good and beneficial to have a SharePoint to get aware of information about different projects, documentations, presentations and so on.

Managers

Two of the managers did not have additional comments on the SharePoint. However, one of the managers thought that information on the SharePoint was not updated regularly. Sometimes information is passed on via emails instead of uploading it on the SharePoint for everyone to see, which means that a significant number of employees do not receive the information on time or not at all.

(manager) "A lot of info is only passing through emails"

New employees

The new employees seemed to be familiar with the SharePoint and were pleased with this platform. On the other hand, many new employees stated that it can be difficult to find information, meaning that the SharePoint needs to be more structured as well as updated often. (new employee) "We have something called SharePoint, where we have a lot of info, all projects. It's basically like dropbox online, so you go into the website, and then you have all the documentations nicely laid out from all the different teams"

5.7.4. Feedback on onboarding

New employees

The participants stated that there were no surveys with regards to how onboarding has been experienced and how the new employee's progress has taken place. All of the interviewed newcomers said that neither HR professionals or their managers formally asked them to give feedback with regards to onboarding. The newcomers, who felt that the onboarding process needed improvement, stated that they wish someone had asked their feedback.

However, the new employees discussed that occasionally their manager would informally ask if everything was going well for the new employee. Since personal development discussion takes place three times per year, and if the first discussion happens to be during the onboarding process, that is when the managers tend to ask more about new employee's experience, according to the newcomers.

HR professionals

HR professionals rely on open-door policy where employees can drop by. One of the HR professionals stated that employees often used to come by and share their experiences, feedback, complaints etc. However, after recent re-organizing the office layout, there is a considerable decrease of employees who utilize open-door policy, since there is less privacy because the office is now shared with other individuals.

(HR professional) "My door is always open [...] I had people in everyday, talking about how much they had, and how they felt and so on. I think that was quite a natural channel for them to go by my office if they had an issue."

According to the company onboarding plan, the HR department is required to conduct onboarding surveys at 3 occasions during the onboarding process. The feedback should be collected from both managers and new employees, in order to discover how onboarding is conducted, experienced and what aspects need improvement. However, HR does not carry out any formal surveys. The HR professionals said that they randomly asked new employees how everything was going, which they considered to be sufficient. The HR professionals explained that since they do not have enough people in their HR department, they do not have enough resources and time to focus on surveys since they have more important tasks to work on.

Managers

The hiring managers are clearly not pleased with HR's very little involvement during the onboarding process and stated that they do not feel supported by the HR professionals.

(manager) "HR, they do not follow up anything in that checklist, so that is also...why I think it is maybe not followed up that much [by managers]. I don't think the onboarding is very...is not taken seriously or it is not really in process."

Because there are no regular new employee surveys, the managers tend to ask feedback informally or during the development discussion, to get a better idea how new employees' have experienced their first months in the company. The managers claimed that new employees are usually pleased even though they sometimes receive complaints with regards to unclear job description. When asked if they got feedback from new employees on onboarding, one of the managers said

(manager) "I don't have specific questions about onboarding [during personal development discussion], I have general questions on how they feel about their work, 'what do you think about the team'?"

However, they also mentioned that it is not that easy to get the negative feedback from new employees, and expressed that it would be necessary to have anonymous surveys for new employees.

5.8. Onboarding plan

5.8.1. Onboarding checklist

The company has a standardized onboarding checklist developed by the headquarters for all their subsidiaries across the world, meaning that they have followed the "best practice" approach rather than "best fit". The checklist lays out step-by-step introductions for manager, HR and mentor/buddy how to carry out onboarding. Also, every new employee is expected to follow the checklist. According to the standardized onboarding checklist, the onboarding process should take up to one year.

Managers

Interviewed managers believed that the current global checklist is not sufficient for the local Swedish setting. They explained that it lacks details specific for the local context (e.g. introductions for different procedures etc). The standardized checklist is according to interviewees too extensive. This has led to the fact that the managers do not act upon the onboarding checklist. Although, all interviewed managers said that they would be more motivated to follow the checklist if HR professionals also did that.

(manager) "This is [company's name] global onboarding checklist, for me this is not enough. It is not acceptable for our site here, it covers some things, which is good, but it is definitely not sufficient".

(manager) "The local things you have to do here in Sweden, like how and where to get their [new employees'] phone, their computer, not much here about all the IT systems, and all of that. Then I think nobody follows this checklist, even HR don't follow upon this".

The managers do not entirely follow the onboarding checklist rather than a general structure or guideline, as they have created their own custom-made checklist and share it with their employees.

(manager) "I have my own checklist to follow, to fill in the blanks."

As mentioned, the onboarding plan is considered as too long and extensive, since it takes up to one year to complete it. Therefore, the managers claimed that the current checklist is too ambitious and should cover only three to six months of new employee's employment.

(manager) "It [onboarding checklist] is almost a year, and it is very extensive and this is only the manager's part, then you have the HR part, the buddy part and the employee part, yeah it

is... A bit more focused and shorter, and I think the onboarding process should be covered first quarter, six months maybe, not more than that."

The managers displayed frustration since they aim to do their best during the onboarding but feel that they do not get enough support from the HR professionals as well as HR does not follow their tasks that are laid out according to the onboarding plan.

(manager) "They [HR professionals] could care about the onboarding process [...] I mean they are my employees, I want them to feel welcome and know what to do and so on, so I think it is important."

HR professionals

When asked HR professionals how they perceive the current onboarding plan, they claimed that the current plan is sufficient. However, they stated that the main responsibility of conducting onboarding lays on managers. HR professionals explained that since managers are the closest to the new employees, they can act quickly corresponding to new employee's needs. The HR professionals also admitted that they in fact do not follow upon the onboarding checklist, besides preparing documentations for new hire's employment.

(HR professional) "It is also the manager who should work with the new employees, it is not we as the HR. We don't... we have a lot to do with all the employees, it is not we who work [with new employee] on daily basis."

New employees

Although the new employees were positive with regards to their time in the company, when asked if they thought the onboarding process has been efficient for them, the answers varied. The most common reply was that onboarding should be carried out in a more structured manner, especially to accelerate the time to start working.

(new employee) "No, I don't think it's [onboarding] efficient. I think it's... it should be more standardized. I feel like there could be maybe like a clear document, like the things you need to go through to start working."

(new employee) "It would be great if there were maybe a more structured, technical onboarding process, but maybe from technical process "do this, then register document, this is how you do that"."

It is also worth to mention that although it takes time for new employees to fully start working in a new project, they said that they felt rather quickly that they were integrated and part of the company. Some new employees said that it took them only couple of weeks to be integrated to the company while other said it took them two to three months.

One new employee discussed that he felt quickly that he was integrated to the company, because he carried out workshops and represented the company at student fairs. However, he said that he did not feel as fully socialized yet. He reasoned that he still did not know a lot of other employees working in other departments.

5.9. Satisfaction

New employees

Despite that many newcomers had some issues along their onboarding process, the general perception of onboarding is positive. The new employees explained that it is tied to friendly and open colleagues. Other satisfactory aspects mentioned included a good work climate, possibility to learn something new and being part of big projects. Thus, all interviewed employees stated that in general they are satisfied in their new employment. When asked to rate their satisfaction on a scale from 1 to 10. The lowest score given was 5 and the highest 10, the average satisfaction rate is 7,6.

(new employee) "Yes, 8. Good tasks right now, workers, the office is good [...] good location now. It's a good environment, I think the facilities, the hardware and co-workers are quite good and we are into some projects right now."

(new employee) "The climate here in the office and the colleagues and the tasks I am doing, it's always technical and difficult and you always learn a lot. So, you have a lot of good colleagues and you have a lot of fun here. But there's always potential for improvements."

Nevertheless, there were also new employees who felt that although they had a lot of experience the company did not take full advantage of his/her competence, which also caused lower satisfaction than on average.

(new employee) "It's not the worst company and it's not the best company, I don't feel like I am using my full potential. They are great, a lot of good people here. Without them, this company wouldn't be that great."

The interviewers asked one respondent whether his onboarding had been successful and the person answered: "Super good. [Manager's name] came to airport, he picked me up, he lifted my bags also and he dropped me to my service apartment. Then he took me to MAXI, the grocery store. He helped me to buy all the groceries I need to buy for an initial week. Then dropped me back to my service apartment, then uhm... I'm a little bit more descriptive because it was fun. Then I started cooking on the very first day, the stove wasn't working. So, then I called this bostad service apartment company here and they were on vacation because it was Saturday I think. Then I messaged [manager's name] and he appears back in 15 minutes"

Although the interviewers asked his overall experience this is the memory that struck him the most - the way he was greeted by his manager when he arrived in Sweden. Interestingly though, the same person had claimed previously in the interview that not everything was perfect during his onboarding. However, when he was asked to specify he was unable to answer, since he had forgotten. However, he had a vivid memory of his first interaction with his manager which influenced his overall onboarding experience. It was also common among other new employees to refer back to their first day when asked about their onboarding process. They often had clear memories from that, and could describe their first day in detail.

The interviewers made some additional observations during the interviews with new employees. The new employees who were attracted to the company through an insider showed more positive attitude towards the onboarding and the company. Also, the new employees who had some previous working experience in different companies were more critical towards to the onboarding process as well as the company.

Managers/HR professionals

Managers' views on onboarding were quite mixed, when asked to rate the onboarding plan from 1 to 10. The scores varied from 3, the lowest, and 7, the highest. A manager, who rated with 3, stated that onboarding checklist has in general good points and offers a good guideline for managers and other parties included. However, he noted that other aspects are not sufficient and referred to the lack of communication and cooperation between departments. Also, he explained that the information preparation needed to be improved as early as possible. Another manager thought that for an effective onboarding process, there should be less steps to follow and the time expansion of onboarding should be reduced, and more importantly all parties should follow up on it.

HR professionals stated that the onboarding as a whole is good, but they also believed that onboarding plan should be simplified since many new employees have entered the company in a short period of time, which makes it difficult to thoroughly follow the onboarding checklist.

5.10. Turnover intention

New employees

The interviewers asked new employees a hypothetical question, whether they plan to stay in the company for a long term or not. Although the respondents found it difficult to answer, the majority of the respondents said they can imagine working in the company for a long term, which they specified to be 2 or more years. A few stated that they plan to stay in the company at least 5 more years. This answer was especially common among persons who had a good onboarding experience and eased into their new job quickly.

The respondents reasoned their intent to stay for having a possibility to work in big projects and having great colleagues. In fact, almost all new employees mentioned their colleagues as the main factor for staying.

(new employee) "Quite a few years I would say. It depends what happens, we have some projects wrapping up and some new starting up. It depends a little bit on that, what type of work I get to do. There are or there seems to be a lot of companies interested in people with our skills and with our education. I think if I wanted to leave, I could do that, it wouldn't be a very difficult to find a new employment. I think I want to keep working here, I don't think I will be afraid to not find a new job but more like "I really enjoy it here"."

(new employee) "Yeah, I could imagine working here for long term. It's a great company and as I said many people are friendly and so if I was located here in Gothenburg this is the company I would recommend to others."

Furthermore, a couple of interviewed new employees stated that they did not consider the company for a longer employment because they are working with something that is not their main interest of field or they were not satisfied with their time in the company (i.e. poor onboarding process, unmet expectations).

(new employee) "For now, I don't think I will stay here for a very long time, but I can get good experience here"

6. Discussion

In this section, the authors discuss and analyse the collected empirical findings while taking into consideration the theoretical framework and literature review.

The empirical findings were collected through 25 interviews with new employees, managers and HR professionals. The findings were analysed, and thereafter categorized into number of themes as discussion points.

6.1. Unclear job description and frustration

Bauer (2010) states that recruitment and selection process is the initial step that influences efficiency of onboarding. Clarification in Bauer's Four Cs (2015) refers to the details and context of new employee's job and clarifying of the work requirements. It was revealed in the results that the managers use different channels to advertise available positions. Most of the candidates obtain information via online platforms, such as LinkedIn and the company's own website. The advertisements contain a limited information with regards to job description. Others received information about the open position through an organizational insider.

Job description essentially defines a thorough job analysis, and what he/she will really do on the job. In short, the job description offers guidance, where everybody in the organization comprehends what is expected of them (Rohr, 2016). Yet, a high percentage of new employees in this study did not receive a clear job description. Although, the interviewed managers explained that unclear job description could be perceived as something positive, since it can offer a lot of flexibilities, however, the effect was opposite. Namely, it was perceived negatively by the new employees. In addition, the experienced new employees were more critical with regards to the vague job description. On the other hand, the new employees who got information through an organizational insider said more commonly that the job description was clear or somewhat clear. It lets one to assume that the insider who attracted the candidate has an influence on how job description was perceived.

6.2. Non-existent pre-entry expectations

Buckley, et al. (1998) discussed that pre-entry expectations and job satisfaction are linked. However, most of the new employees in this study did not have pre-entry expectations. It is possible that unclear job description can be connected to not existing pre-entry expectations.

Moreover, it is undecided whether non-existent pre-entry expectations influenced the overall onboarding experience and job satisfaction. However, since some new employees had no previous working experience in the engineering field, it can be assumed that it contributed to non-existent pre-entry expectations.

In this study only 30% of the interviewed new employees considered the job description given to them as clear or rather clear. Bauer (2010) states that realistic job description supports the prevention of unmet expectations. Indeed, some of the new employees stated that without clear job description, they did not know exactly what their responsibilities were. Also, they gave a slightly lower satisfaction rate compared to the individuals who were pleased with their job description and role clarity.

6.3. Well-structured and clear information

Miller and Jablin (1991) state that information-offering is necessary to clarify employee's role in the organizations, and decrease uncertainty, role ambiguity and role conflict. As indicated in the results, sharing information is essential to enhance onboarding process. Also, as discussed above efficient information sharing should start with clear job description. The findings indicated that it is especially important for new employees to obtain a wealth of correct information to eliminate uncertainties and confusions as much as possible, and speed up onboarding process.

Once the new employee has entered the company, the managers and HR professionals use different channels to share information. For instance, they make use of a personnel handbook, orientation courses, as well as mentoring, which is a more personal way to convey information and offer support to new employees. The new employees especially valued mentoring and orientation course. They explained that the orientation course offered a better overview of the case company's activities, as well as they found it as a good opportunity to network and learn about other employees. According to Bauer's Four C's (2015) it aids to emphasise connections between employees as well as gain a better understanding of the organizational culture. It also helps newcomers feel welcome by introducing them to co-workers and other colleagues in the company (Bauer, 2010).

The company also takes advantage of technology, such as having a common SharePoint that is easily accessible by all employees. Boxall & Purcell (2011) state that employees have to be provided with the information they need in an effort to make decisions. However, the interviewees indicated that is not simply enough to have a common online SharePoint if it is not well structured and organized. As explained by interviewed individuals, the online platform ought to include information not only with regards to administrative aspects of work and company, but also useful information and links that aid the everyday engineering work. For SharePoint to be functional, it is necessary to keep it updated at all times, as one manager concluded.

Furthermore, in a large multinational corporation, it is significant that the information provided is understandable to everyone. The interviewees stated that some documentation is available only in Swedish. These papers are also shared with non-Swedish speaking new employees, such as the personnel handbook which contains various workplace policies, procedures etc. As revealed in the interviews, the new employees who did not have sufficient Swedish skills relied on their colleagues or online translation, which created frustration in a couple of new employees. This means that information in documentations, meetings etc. should preferably be in a language that all employees comprehend. Not only are new employees negatively affected by this Swedish-English language issue but also managers. One manager discussed that he even felt embarrassment to give documents in Swedish to a non-Swedish speaking person. This contributes to a sense of not feeling supported by HR professionals, as they are responsible for preparing documentations. On the other hand, the company offers Swedish courses to non-Swedish speaking new employees, in an effort to not only socialize them better to the company but to the Swedish society.

The new employees also have a responsibility to actively seek information and make use of the documentations given to them. Many new employees stated that they had not read the company's personnel handbook or had looked at only briefly. Essentially, the personnel handbook covers different dos and don'ts at a workplace, which also refers to an organizational culture.

6.4. Manager's support and interactions

The first day is considered as the most significant day on the job for new employees (Bauer, 2010). The impression the organization representatives make on that first day will greatly influence employee's perception of the company over the next following months (Krasman, 2015). Indeed, when interviewers asked new employees to highlight something positive from their onboarding process, many of them referred to early interactions with their managers and colleagues that took place on the first day. Many new employees remembered how they were warmly greeted and treated by their new manager. This is supported by Bauer & Green (1998) as they discuss how manager's behaviour has a considerable effect on new employee's accommodation and socialization process. Many new employees said that their managers are open and take into account new employee's opinions, indicating that manager acts as a general support for them. For one new employee, the first positive interactions with the manager created a strong memory, yet, the same person was unable to remember shortcomings of their onboarding. This means that the very early interactions not only influence how new employees perceive their manager but also how they experience their onboarding.

The new employees also emphasised the importance of more relaxed interactions, such as welcoming lunch. All new employees recognized it in a positive way. The new employees often said that welcoming lunch on their first day was a nice gesture by managers. In addition, it made new employees feel as they were taken care of. Furthermore, positive impression on welcoming lunch can be assumed that new employees sense uncertainty in the beginning. A lunch together with a manager and team members helps to feel inclusion. Others saw welcoming lunch as a good opportunity to get to know people in a more stress-free setting. This implies that new employees actively aim to build interpersonal relationships in order to facilitate their socialization process in a new environment. Having a social network helps to transform from being an outsider to insider faster. Bauer Four C's (2015) stated that developing interpersonal relationships is essential for a positive onboarding outcome.

6.5. Work essentials

The managers and HR professionals are expected to make preparation for new employee's arrival. Compliance is the basic level of onboarding and most of organizations can reach it. New employees with all compliance and work essentials (e.g. computers, workstations, paperwork, rules, regulations) prepared feel less anxious (Bauer, 2015). In this case, work

essentials were in general prepared but expectations occurred. One new employee had to wait up to several weeks to receive a working computer or even longer time to be in the emailing list. Delay of receiving work essentials was one of the factors that impacted newcomers onboarding because it took longer time for them to engage into their new responsibilities. This shadowed new employee's onboarding experience. Some new employees directly mentioned the problem of delayed work essentials when asked about negative experiences during onboarding in this company.

6.6. Colleagues are influential

Although, the manager is the primary person to carry out onboarding, yet the new employees spend most of their time with their colleagues. It is studied that employee's organizational socialization success is connected to organizational insiders, such as co-workers (Ellis, Erdogan, Bauer, 2014, p 308). All interviewed individuals agreed that the friendly, helpful and open nature of their colleagues is one of the best aspects of the company. Therefore, one may suggest that colleagues' behaviour is as important as manager's.

It can be assumed that the most natural channel exchanging information and learning is with co-workers. The colleagues in the company have a great influence on transforming the new employees from being an outsider to insider. The working environment as well as organizational culture is generated by the effort of all staff in the organization. For the reason that all the interviewed individuals (i.e. new employees, managers, HR professionals) illuminated friendliness and helpfulness of their colleagues, it may be possible that new employees take over similar attitudes.

6.7. Mentors provide "safe havens"

A mentor can guide new employees concerning the organization, offer advice, guide with tasks, and provide support when needed. It is more convenient for new hires to turn to mentors when questions arise. New employees and managers/HR professionals stated that having one assigned mentor is an important aspect of onboarding in order to ease into new work quicker. According to the company's onboarding checklist, the managers are in charge of selecting a mentor for every new employee. The managers explained that they choose a mentor based on which project the newcomer starts working in. The idea is that mentor and new employee can work closely together. The new employees discussed that they often worked with their mentor

side by side and gained necessary knowledge and obtained new skills through that. It is not less significant that the managers choose a mentor wisely. The managers explained that they pick a mentor in terms of who has a good knowledge with regards to various processes in the company and technical skills to help the new employee. On the other hand, the new employees stated that in order for mentoring to be successful the mentor needs to have sufficient amount of time to spend with the new employee. In addition, some new hires suggested not to recruit new employees during the period of high workload. They explained that it decreases the efficiency of the mentor's work and increases new employee's stress as they need mentor's help. Another new employee discussed that a mentor who is busy in his/her job tasks slows down new employees speed of delivering results.

As the results displayed that not every new employee got a mentor, although the new employees who did not have a mentor stated that they wished they had somebody to turn to in case of difficulties and uncertainties. As one manager discussed that more experienced new employees need less guidance, since they supposedly already know the procedures. It may explain why some new employees did not receive a mentor. However, Krasman (2015) states that onboarding should be followed consistently to socialize every single new employee. Implying that previous working experience of a new employee should not be a factor when carrying out onboarding.

Some interviewed individuals saw even a wider picture of mentoring. Specifically, they discussed that mentoring is an essential method to introduce persons who are newly out of university to working life. All in all, the new employees talked about mentorship as something positive and said that not all other companies offer mentors. It indicates that the fact that the managers assigned mentors sets the case study company apart from other companies.

6.8. Turnover intention

Interestingly, the study found that having friendly co-workers has a considerable influence on new employee's turnover intention and possibly organizational commitment. Most of the new employees discussed that they plan to continue working in the company for at least two to three more years. Many interviewed new employees highlighted their colleagues when they discussed their intent to stay in the company for a long term. One new employee said that it would not be difficult to find a new job if he wanted to, and implied that he has stayed in the

company because he enjoys the workplace. Yet, for some new employees having great coworkers is not enough, as unmet expectations or unsatisfactory onboarding plays a bigger factor for them. This was more common in experienced new employees, which means that they were probably able to compare their onboarding process to their previous experiences in other companies. Also, as one manager discussed that more experienced employees require less guidance, this may be an indication that the managers focus more on inexperienced new employees rather than experienced ones. Due to that it is possible that the experienced new employees felt lower level support which led them to be more critical towards onboarding and the company.

Moreover, engineers are characterized as individuals who have a strong desire for growth and personal development when compared to some other professionals (Bigliardi, et al., 2005). Therefore, it is not surprising that several new employees mentioned new experiences, skills, and interesting projects for reason to stay.

6.9. Standardized onboarding vs. local context

When looking at Krasman's (2015) theory for a successful onboarding, the onboarding process needs to be strategic, comprehensive, consistent and measured. However, during the interviews with both managers and HR professionals, it became apparent that their current process is not entirely effective, when comparing it to Krasman's (2015) theory.

The onboarding is not used strategically in the case company. The managers and HR professionals said that they do not act on the onboarding checklist consistently. The HR professionals stated that they carry out the steps that are required for new employee's employment, e.g. preparing contract, confidentiality agreement. The managers again have designed their own onboarding checklist, that is more suitable for the local context as they reasoned that the current checklist is not adequately comprehensive. They mean that for a checklist to be effective, it needs to be sufficiently detailed, while taking into account local setting. Additionally, the managers explained that an onboarding that takes up to one year is too extensive. They considered approximately three months of onboarding to be enough, which may indicate that the managers do not continue with onboarding after three months of new hire's employment. It suggests that new employees are expected to be fully socialized by that

time and familiar with their responsibilities. On the other hand again, most of the new employees stated they were integrated after a couple of months of employment.

6.10. HR professionals as role models

The managers discussed that HR's support is minimal during the onboarding process, if not completely absent. However, they also argued that they would be more motivated to follow the checklist if HR professionals also did that. This indicated that HR professionals should not only be a support to managers during onboarding but also act as role models. As a matter of fact, the HR professionals admitted they do not follow the checklist either. As laid out in the standardized onboarding checklist, HR has a number of tasks to carry out. One of them is to conduct surveys three times during a one year long onboarding, however, this is something HR does not do. Therefore, onboarding is not systematically measured. This means that HR professionals do not have a full picture of how onboarding is conducted and experienced. Meaning that, HR professionals and managers are not aware of onboarding mistakes, that otherwise could be recovered.

Taking into account all the previous, it suggests that according to Krasman's (2015) theory, the onboarding process is not effective in the case company. This is also agreed by the new employees who frequently stated that the onboarding process should be better structured and standardized.

6.11. Possible solutions

According to Bauer (2010) a formal step by step onboarding plan is beneficial in order to advance how onboarding is experienced by new employees. However, what happens when it is not taken into process by managers or HR professionals? As discovered in the results, onboarding that is lacking cooperation, motivation or resources, is causing frustration in different parties.

What could be the solutions to improve the current onboarding situation? Boxall & Purcell (2011) state that two strategies exist that organizations usually use. One of them is called "best fit" which emphasizes that the strategy should consider and fit the special context. The other strategy is "best practice". "Best practice" assumes that there exists one best way that can be apply to all of the organizations, while ignoring the context.

The headquarters of the case company had developed a standardized onboarding checklist for every subsidiary, meaning that they utilized "best practice" approach. However, one of the main problems of the onboarding plan, as mentioned by both managers and HR professionals, is difficult implementation of the checklist, since it was not suitable for the company's context. It implies that it is unrealistic to use one onboarding plan everywhere, because different organizations and branches have its own characteristics. Therefore, the standardized onboarding plan from the headquarters is not fully acted on. It may be suggested that improvements need to be made in order to make it fit the case company the best. Therefore, the case company may greatly benefit from the "best fit" strategy that adjusts to a specific environment.

7. Conclusion

This chapter consists of the conclusion of the analysis of findings and an ending discussion of the research questions.

The purpose of this study was to look at an onboarding process from two different perspectives. On one side the perspectives of new employees' and how they experience onboarding. On the other side the managers and HR professionals, who carry out onboarding, and how they do it.

Although the title of this study is "Everybody get on board!", the results showed that was not the case for everyone. The company has an onboarding plan; however, it was not systematically carried out neither by managers nor HR professionals. The reasons for this varied from the onboarding checklist being inadequate to the local context and lack of motivation. The individuals who carry out onboarding need to improve cooperation and support each other to fully implement the onboarding plan, which otherwise can cause frustration, as seen in this study.

Although the new employees stated that onboarding could be improved, they were generally happy with their time in the company. The new employees valued interpersonal connections, such as having a mentor for guidance, and supportive colleagues. Receiving work essentials on time was also a factor for stated satisfaction. Although many new employees experienced shortcomings of onboarding, interestingly though, the new employees had a rather high satisfaction rate, i.e. 7,6 out of 10. This illustrates that for new employee socialization, networking with their mentor, colleagues, managers are imperative.

7.1. Limitations and recommendations for future studies

This thesis triggers several forms of limitations, differing from the incompleteness of a case study approach, to the concern of the relatively short employment time of new employees to see longer effects of their onboarding. Another possible limitation of the study is that all the interviews were carried out in English. For most of the respondents it was not their native language, which may have created some language barrier and misunderstandings, even though the interviewees had either good or very good English skills. The authors attempted to be as

clear as possible when formulating questions and provided further clarity when needed, in order to avoid any ambiguities.

Since nearly all interviews were conducted in the company, in their meeting rooms, it may be likely that the respondents had a feeling of unease and had a concern of de-anonymity. Although, the authors assured in the beginning of the interview that all respondents are kept anonymous by them and will not be shared with anyone.

Based on the results, the authors discovered a discrepancy of the perspectives from both managers and HR professionals on different issues. The future studies can be focused on how to balance and satisfy both sides and thus improve the efficiency of onboarding process. In addition, how to improve the cooperation and interaction between managers and HR professionals, thus make both sides contribute to the onboarding.

8. References

Book

Bauer, T., & Erdogan, B. (2012). Organizational Socialization Outcomes: Now and Into the Future. *The Oxford Handbook of Organizational Socialization*, The Oxford Handbook of Organizational Socialization.

Bauer, T. N., Morrison, E. W. & Callister, R. R. (1998). Organizational Socialization: A Review and Directions for Future Research. In G. R. Ferris (Ed.) Research in Personnel and Human Resources Management 16, pp. 149-214. Stamford, CT: JAI Press.

Bradt, G., & Vonnegut, M. (2009). Onboarding how to get your new employees up to speed in half the time. Hoboken, N.J.: Wiley.

Bryman, A. (2008). Social research method. Oxford University Press Inc., New York

Bryman, A. (2012). Social research method. 4th Ed. Oxford University Press Inc., New York

Ellis, A. M., Bauer, T. N., & Erdogan, B (2014). New-Employee Organizational Socialization. *Handbook of Socialization*. 2nd Ed. (pp. 301-322). Guildford Publications: New York

Hakim, C. (2000). Research design: successful designs for social and economic research. Social research today .2nd Revised ed., Routledge, London, UK.

Hennink, M., Hutter, I., & Bailey, A. (2011). Qualitative research methods. London: Sage.

Klein, H., & Polin, B. (2012). Are Organizations on Board with Best Practices Onboarding? *The Oxford Handbook of Organizational Socialization*, The Oxford Handbook of Organizational Socialization.

Patton, M. (1990). *Qualitative evaluation and research methods* (2nd Ed.). Newbury Park, Calif., London: Sage.

Wanberg, C. (2012). *The Oxford handbook of organizational socialization* (Oxford library of psychology). New York: Oxford University Press.

Yin, R. K. (2014). *Case Study Research: Design and Methods*. 5th ed. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, Inc.

Journal

Allen, D. (2006). Do Organizational Socialization Tactics Influence Newcomer Embeddedness and Turnover? *Journal of Management*, 32(2), 237-256.

Bauer, T. N. & Green, S. G. (1998). Testing the Combined Effects of Newcomer Information Seeking and Manager Behavior on Socialization. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 83(1), 72-83.

Bigliardi, B., Petroni, A. & Dormio, A. I. (2005). Organizational socialization, career aspirations and turnover intentions among design engineers. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, 26(6), 424-441.

Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 3(2), 77-101.

Buckley, M, R., Fedor, D. B., Veres, J. G., Wiese, D. S., and Carraher, S. M (1998) Investigating newcomer expectations and job-related outcomes. *Journal of applied psychology*, 83(3), 452-461.

Carmeli, A., & Gittell, J. (2009). High-quality relationships, psychological safety, and learning from failures in work organizations. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, *30*(6), 709-729.

Carmeli, A., Brueller, D., & Dutton, J. (2009). Learning behaviours in the workplace: The role of high-quality interpersonal relationships and psychological safety. *Systems Research and Behavioral Science*, 26(1), 81-98.

Carter, T. (2015). HIRE RIGHT THE FIRST TIME. *Journal of Property Management*, 80(3), 26-29.

Eisenhardt, K. M. (1989). Building theories from case study research. (Special Forum on Theory Building). *Academy of Management Review*, 14(4), 532-550.

Ellis, A. M., Nifadkar, S. S., Bauer, T. N., & Erdogan, B. (2017). Newcomer adjustment: Examining the role of managers' perception of newcomer proactive behavior during organizational socialization. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *102*(6), 993-1001. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy.ub.gu.se/10.1037/apl0000201

Farber, H. S. (1994). The Analysis of Interfirm Worker Mobility. *Journal of Labor Economics*, vol. 12, no. 4, 1994, pp. 554–593.

Ferrazzi, K., & Davis, T. (2015). The employee integration equation. *Talent Development*, 69(10), 56-60.

Filstad, C. (2004). How newcomers use role models in organizational socialization. *Journal of Workplace Learning: Employee Counselling Today*, *16*(7), 396-409.

Flanagin, A., & Waldeck, J. (2004). TECHNOLOGY USE AND ORGANIZATIONAL NEWCOMER SOCIALIZATION. *The Journal of Business Communication*, 41(2), 137-165.

Gilmore, D. C., & Turner, M. (2010). Improving executive recruitment and retention. *The Psychologist-Manager Journal*, *13*(2), 125-128.

Kerr, S., Von Glinow, M. A., & Schriesheim, J. (1977). Issues in the study of "professionals" in organizations: The case of scientists and engineers. *Organizational Behavior and Human Performance*, 18(2), 329-345.

Klein, H. J., Fan, J., & Preacher, K. J. (2006). The effects of early socialization experiences on content mastery and outcomes: A mediational approach. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 68, 96-115.

Krasman, M. (2015). Three Must-Have Onboarding Elements for New and Relocated Employees. *Employment Relations Today*, 42(2), 9-14.

Korte, R., & Lin, S. (2013). Getting on board: Organizational socialization and the contribution of social capital. *Human Relations*, 66(3), 407-428.

Korte, R., Brunhaver, S., & Sheppard, S. (2015). (Mis)Interpretations of Organizational Socialization: The Expectations and Experiences of Newcomers and Managers. *Human Resource Development Quarterly*, 26(2), 185-208.

Louis, M. (1980). Surprise and sense making: What newcomers experience in entering unfamiliar organizational settings. Administrative Science Quarterly: ASQ; Dedicated to Advancing the Understanding of Administration through Empirical Investigation and Theoretical Analysis, 25(2), 226-251.

Louis, M. R., Posner, B. Z., & Powell, G. (1983). The availability and helpfulness of socialization practices. *Personnel Psychology*, *36*, 857–866

Mellinger, E. (2013). Orientation and onboarding processes for the experienced perioperative RN. (2013). *AORN Journal*, 98(4), C5-C6.

Meyer, J. P. and Allen, N. J. (1991). A three-component conceptualization of organizational commitment. *Human Resource Management Review*, *1*(1), 61-89.

Morrison, E. (2002). Newcomers' Relationships: The Role of Social Network Ties during Socialization. *The Academy of Management Journal*, 45(6), 1149-1160.

Ostroff, C., & Kozlowski, S. (1992). Organizational socialization as a learning process: the role of information acquisition. *Personnel Psychology*, *45*(4), 849-874.

Ostroff, C., & Kozlowski, S. W. J. (1993). The role of mentoring in the information gathering processes of newcomers during early organizational socialization. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 42, 170-183.

Ross, W. E., Huang, K. C., & Jones, G. H. (2014). Executive Onboarding: Ensuring the Success of the Newly Hired Department Chair. *Academic Medicine*, 89(5), 728-733.

Rohr, S. L. (2016). Harnessing the power of the job description. *Human Resource Management International Digest*, Vol. 24 Issue: 6, pp.8-11, doi: 10.1108/HRMID-09-2015-0143

Saks, A., & Gruman, J. (2011). Organizational socialization and positive organizational behaviour: Implications for theory, research, and practice. *Canadian Journal of Administrative Sciences*, 28(1), 14-26.

Sanjari, M., Bahramnezhad, F., Fomani, F. K., Shoghi, M., & Cheraghi, M. A. (2014). Ethical challenges of researchers in qualitative studies: the necessity to develop a specific guideline. *Journal of Medical Ethics and History of Medicine*, 7, 14.

Snell, A. (2006). Researching onboarding best practice. Strategic HR Review, 5(6), 32-35.

Solinger, O. N., Olffen van, W., Roe, R. A. & Hofmans, J. (2013). On becoming (un)committed: A taxonomy and test of newcomer onboarding scenarios. *Organization Science*, 24(6), 1640-1661.

Suszko, M.J., & Breagh, J. A. (1986). The effects of realistic job previews on applicant self-selection and turnover, satisfaction, and coping ability. Journal of Management, 12, 513-523.

Wanous, J., Poland, T., Premack, S., Davis, K., & Schmitt, Neal. (1992). The Effects of Met Expectations on Newcomer Attitudes and Behaviors: A Review and Meta-Analysis. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 77(3), 288-297.

Website

Aberdeen Group (2006). *Onboarding Benchmark Report*. Retrieved from http://magdata.lrp.com/MAGDATA/servlet/DataServlet?fname=10022007Extra_AberdeenRe port.pdf

Bauer, T. N. (2013). *Onboarding: The Critical Role of Hiring Managers*. Retrieved from https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Talya Bauer/publication/286447336 The critical role of the hiring manager in new employee onboarding/links/566994fe08aea0892c49aa25.pdf

Bauer, T. N. (2010). *Onboarding new employees: maximizing success*. Retrieved from https://www.shrm.org/foundation/ourwork/initiatives/resources-from-past-initiatives/Documents/Onboarding%20New%20Employees.pdf

Bauer, T. N. (2015). *Onboarding: The power of connection*. Retrieved from https://www.researchgate.net/publication/286447344_Onboarding_The_power_of_connection

Chaneski, W. S. (2015). The onboarding process. *Competing ideas*. Retrieved from http://www.mmsonline.com/columns/the-onboarding-process

Gustafsson, B., Hermerén, G. & Pettersson, B. (2011). Good research practice. Retrieved from https://publikationer.vr.se/produkt/good-research-practice/

Moody, D. (2002). Empirical Research Methods. Retrieved from http://folk.uio.no/patrickr/refdoc/methods.pdf

Social Research Methods (2006). Qualitative Validity. Retrieved April 1, 2017, from https://www.socialresearchmethods.net/kb/qualval.php

Zainal, Z. (2007). Case study as a research method. Retrieved from http://core.ac.uk/download/pdf/11784113.pdf

9. Appendices

9.1. Appendix 1 - Interview questions (new employees)

Leading questions

Where are you from?

Did you have any previous job experiences prior getting this job?

How long have you worked here?

What is your job?

Where did you find information about this position?

Did the job description match your responsibilities?

What were your expectations when you started working in this company?

Onboarding questions

From your point of view, what information is important to know for new employees when they start working in a new company?

Did you get all this information when you started here?

What kind of information did you receive during your first days and weeks in the company?

When you think about the time when you got hired, do you feel like you got enough information

and support from your closest manager? (prior, during and after entering the company)

How did your manager welcome you?

Can you name a few aspects that should be included in a good introductory to a company?

Did you have a mentor or buddy? (what did you think about it?)

Can you describe the company's values and goals?

Did you receive feedback from your manager with regards to your progress in the first months?

Has the onboarding been efficient in your opinion?

Are you satisfied with the first year in this company? (Can you rate your satisfaction from 1 to 10?)

Do you plan to stay in this company long-term or is it something you consider to be as a shortstop? Why?

9.2. Appendix 2 - Interview questions (HR and managers)

Leading questions

Where are you from?

How long have you worked in this company?

What is your job here? What is your title?

Onboarding

Are you familiar with the current onboarding plan when it comes to introducing new employees to the company?

What is the purpose of the onboarding process?

How long is the onboarding process?

How do you work with the onboarding checklist? (your responsibilities?)

How do you view your role in it?

Please name the most important practices of the onboarding you have right now?

How would you want the onboarding to look like?

Is it important that a new employee has a mentor?

If you could choose, what are the three most important things to have in onboarding?